RECEIVED

03-23-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2018AP44-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES R. MUELLER,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in Marathon County Circuit Court, the Honorable Greg Huber, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MARK R. THOMPSON Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1107841

ALISHA MCKAY Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1090751

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-2124 thompsonm@opd.wi.gov

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Whether the state presented sufficient evidence for the jury to convict Mr. Mueller of driving under the influence of low levels of prescription drugs to an extent that rendered him incapable of driving safely.

The circuit court answered yes by entering a judgment of conviction on the jury's guilty verdict. (35; App. 133).

II. Whether Mr. Mueller's Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable seizures was violated when an officer extended a valid traffic stop to conduct field sobriety tests because "something felt off" and subsequently placed Mr. Mueller under arrest for driving under the influence of a drug.

The circuit court answered no, and denied Mr. Mueller's motions to suppress. (53:28–31; App. 128–31).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested because the briefs can adequately set forth the arguments in this matter. This case does not qualify for publication because it is a misdemeanor appeal. *See* Wis. Stats. §§ 809.23(1)(b)4 and 751.31(2)(f).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 15, 2016, the state charged James R. Muller with operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated, fourth offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 346.63(1)(a) and 346.65(2)(am)4. (1).

Mr. Muller moved to dismiss the criminal complaint on the grounds that the four corners of the complaint failed to support the allegation that he was driving under the influence of an intoxicant. (7:1–2). The state subsequently filed (1) a motion to amend the complaint, and (2) an amended complaint charging Mr. Mueller with operating a motor vehicle under the influence of drugs, fourth offense. (10; 11). The circuit court accepted the complaint at a subsequent hearing. (53:4; App. 104).

Following the state's motion to amend the complaint, Mr. Mueller filed two motions to suppress evidence as fruits of an illegal seizure. (8; 9). The circuit court held a hearing and denied the suppression motions. (53:28–31; App. 128–31). Mr. Mueller subsequently filed a motion for reconsideration, which the circuit court denied. (54).

The parties then proceeded to trial and the jury returned a guilty verdict. (55:181–182). The circuit court accepted the jury's verdict and entered a judgment of conviction at the conclusion of trial. (55:182; 35; App. 133).

Mr. Mueller will summarize all of the pertinent facts of his case where appropriate in his argument.

ARGUMENT

I. The State Presented Insufficient Evidence for a Jury to Find That Mr. Mueller Was Operating a Motor Vehicle Under the Influence of Low Levels of Prescription Drugs to an Extent That Rendered Him Incapable of Driving Safely. Therefore, the Conviction Must Be Reversed.

A. Introduction and Relevant Facts

1. Introduction

The sole issue at trial was whether Mr. Mueller was impaired by his prescription medications to an extent that rendered him incapable of safely driving. The presence of a prescription drug in an individual's system is not sufficient to prove that their ability to drive safely was so impaired.

At trial, the state offered testimony that: (1) Mr. Mueller was operating a vehicle, which was stopped in the middle of a lane of traffic; (2) Mr. Mueller's behavior seemed strange to Officer Austin; (3) Mr. Mueller exhibited clues on two field sobriety tests designed primarily to predict impairment due to alcohol use; (4) Mr. Mueller admitted to taking prescription Clonazepam; and (5) Mr. Mueller had approximately 16 nanograms per milliliter of Clonazepam and Zolpidem in his blood. It was undisputed that (1) Mr. Mueller had a valid prescription for Clonazepam and Zolpidem, and (2) the level of each prescription in his blood was below the therapeutic level.

The state presented general testimony regarding the potential side effects of Clonazepam and Zolpidem that the average person *might* experience. However, the same witness specifically said he could not render an opinion as to whether

the low levels of prescription drugs found in Mr. Mueller's blood impaired his ability to drive safely.

In the absence of direct testimony that Mr. Mueller's ability to drive safely was impaired by prescription drugs, the state attempted to prove this element via circumstantial evidence. The state did not present sufficient circumstantial evidence to connect Mr. Mueller's behavior to the general testimony regarding the potential impairing side effects of his prescription drugs, and this court should therefore reverse.

2. Relevant Facts

Trial Testimony of Officer Austin

Officer Austin testified that on July 16, 2016, he observed Mr. Mueller's vehicle stopped in a lane of traffic on Business Highway 51 in Wausau. (55:67). The officer turned off the highway, came back around, and observed Mr. Mueller's vehicle stopped in the easternmost lane of traffic. (55:68). His vehicle was approximately 75 feet from the traffic light, which was green. (55:68).

Officer Austin activated his emergency lights and pulled up behind the vehicle, which he believed was disabled. (55:68). The officer did not independently observe any erratic driving or receive any driving complaints prior to the stop. (55:89). The officer also testified that cars were going around Mr. Mueller's vehicle while it was stopped, but noted that the highway "wasn't that busy" at the time. (55:67, 68).

When the officer approached the vehicle, Mr. Mueller had his head down and was writing something on a piece of paper. (55:91). When asked if everything was okay, Mr. Mueller informed the officer that he was waiting for the light to turn green. (55:69). The officer said that the light was

green, and Mr. Mueller thanked the officer and attempted to drive away. (55:69). Officer Austin ordered Mr. Mueller to stop, and he complied immediately, driving forward a "couple feet" before stopping. (55:69, 88).

Officer Austin testified that Mr. Mueller seemed distracted while he was stopped, but he did not observe any indications that Mr. Mueller was intoxicated. (55:70, 71, 91). He further acknowledged that Mr. Mueller was alert during their interaction and did not appear "sleepy" or "lethargic." (55: 91, 92).

The officer then returned to his squad car and checked Mr. Mueller's license and registration, which showed that Mr. Mueller was a 58-year-old man who had no driving restrictions. (55:90). While he was in his squad car, Officer Austin radioed for a second vehicle because he wanted to conduct field sobriety tests. (55:92).

Officers Carr and Bornemann responded. (55:72). Officer Austin explained his observations and his decision to conduct field sobriety testing. (55:72). While the officers were conversing, Mr. Mueller yelled out his window that his van had "stalled." (55:93). Officer Austin observed that the vehicle was running, and did not investigate claims that the van was stalling any further. (55:95–96).

The officers then returned to Mr. Mueller's vehicle and asked him to step out of the vehicle for field sobriety testing. (55:72). Mr. Mueller exited his vehicle without incident and was escorted to the back of his vehicle to conduct field sobriety tests on the road. (55:72). Officer Austin testified that Mr. Mueller seemed "antsy to get going" when he exited the vehicle, (55:72), but he nonetheless appeared to understand the instructions. (55:100). However, Officer Austin also testified that Mr. Mueller expressed concern

multiple times that he needed to get home quickly to care for his mother, who was sick and on an oxygen tank. (55:106).

The officers observed zero clues of impairment from Mr. Mueller during the horizontal gaze nystagmus (hereinafter "HGN") test. (55:75). Officer Austin testified that the HGN test is designed for alcohol, but it will also detect impairment due to "some drugs." (55:74).

After he completed the HGN test, Mr. Mueller mentioned that he had ruptured a disc in his back. (55:101). Officer Austin acknowledged that a physical impairment or injury might affect how an individual performs on a test, and that an officer can administer alternative tests due to physical impairments. (55:101). Despite Mr. Mueller's stated back problems, Officer Austin continued with the standard field sobriety tests. (55:101).

Officer Austin conducted the walk-and-turn test. (55:75). He observed four of eight clues of impairment while administering this test. (55:78). Specifically, the officer said that Mr. Mueller started the test early, failed to touch heel to toe on several steps, turned the wrong way, and raised his arms past six inches from his side for balance. (55: 78).

During the one-leg stand test, the officer observed Mr. Mueller "swaying and using his arms for balance above the six inches [from his side]," which showed two of four clues of impairment. (55:79).¹

¹ The State published a portion of Exhibit 5, which was a DVD with the squad cam recording of Mr. Mueller's stop, to the jury. (26). Specifically, the jury observed the video from 16:29:58 to 16:34:04, which depicted Mr. Mueller performing the walk-and-turn and one-legstand tests. (55:86; 26). This portion of the recording was published without audio. (55:86).

Officer Austin testified that the field sobriety tests he administered were developed by the National Highway and Traffic Safety Administration (hereinafter "NHTSA") to detect whether a person might be under the influence of alcohol. (55: 103). Two or more clues on either the walk-and-turn or one-leg-stand tests were indications that an individual's blood-alcohol concentration was above 0.08. (55:103).

Officer Austin attempted to classify the field sobriety tests administered in this case as general tests for "impairment," which could include impairment by drugs. (55:103). However, he testified that there are additional field tests that are specifically administered by a "drug recognition expert" (hereinafter "DRE") to detect impairment from drugs, such as the Romberg balance test and "the ABC test." (55:105; 116–17). Officer Austin is not a DRE, and neither he nor any of the other officer conducted drug-specific tests on Mr. Mueller that day. (55:105).

On re-direct examination, Officer Austin testified that Officer Carr was a DRE. (55:117). However, he testified that Officer Carr "got sent to another call while we were wrapping up." (55:117). He did not testify to any drug-specific observations Officer Carr made.

At the conclusion of the field sobriety tests, Officer Austin asked Mr. Mueller if he had used any prescription drugs. (55:81). Mr. Muller responded that he took Clonazepam, which he had been taking "for awhile" at four pills a day. (55:81).

Officer Austin then placed Mr. Mueller under arrest "based on the series of tests and the clues he had exhibited." (55:81). After placing Mr. Mueller in his squad car, Officer Austin discussed the situation with another officer and

suggested that "maybe Mr. Mueller wasn't taking the field sobriety tests seriously." (55:102).

After Officer Austin arrested Mr. Mueller, he read him the Informing the Accused form. (55:81). Mr. Mueller agreed to submit to a blood draw. (55:82).

Mr. Mueller was transported to a hospital shortly thereafter and complied with a blood draw. (55:82, 112). While they were at the hospital, Mr. Mueller was alert and asked the officer appropriate and coherent questions—such how he could be issued a citation when he was not drunk, when his court date would be, and how long he would have to stay in jail. (55:111). Mr. Mueller also correctly instructed the officer that he was innocent until proven guilty. (55:12). Mr. Mueller's speech was clear throughout this encounter, and he did not appear lethargic or drowsy. (55:112).

After the blood draw, Officer Austin took Mr. Mueller to his squad car and conducted a search incident to arrest, during which he discovered a pill bottle for prescription Clonazepam with Mr. Mueller's name on it. (55:113). He could not recall how many pills per day were prescribed, or how many pills were in the bottle at the time. (55:114).

Trial Testimony of Michael Knutsen

The state called Michael Knutsen, a senior chemist at the Wisconsin State Lab of Hygiene, to testify via telephone about the results of Mr. Mueller's blood test. (55:119).

Prior to the start of trial, Mr. Mueller filed a *Daubert*² motion to exclude certain testimony from Mr. Knutsen. (16). The motion sought to exclude any testimony regarding the

² Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, 509 U.S. 579 (1993).

effects that the prescriptions in Mr. Mueller's system would specifically have on his ability to drive safely. (16:1, 2).

The court held a hearing on Mr. Mueller's *Daubert* motion. (55:3). At the conclusion of that hearing, the court held that Mr. Knutsen was permitted to "describe[] in general the effects of the drugs on the general population or people and not be specific as to how it impacts specifically Mr. Mueller." (55:12).

At trial, the state offered a copy of the lab report summarizing the analysis of Mr. Mueller's blood. (55:122; 29:2). Mr. Knutsen testified that no alcohol was detected in Mr. Mueller's blood sample. (55:122; 29:2). The drug screens conducted on Mr. Mueller's blood sample detected the presence of two prescription drugs: Clonazepam and Zolpidem. (55:122–23; 29:2).

Mr. Knutsen testified that prescription drugs have a "therapeutic range," which is "the amount you would expect in someone's body if [the prescription drug is] taken as prescribed." (55:127). Mr. Knutsen testified that he would expect a person to show signs of impairment from a prescription drug if they were in the therapeutic range. (55:136). The therapeutic range for Clonazepam is 20 to 80 nanograms per milliliter, and the therapeutic range for Zolpidem is 80 to 150 nanograms per milliliter. (55:127). The drug screens conducted on Mr. Mueller's blood sample showed 16 nanograms per milliliter each of Clonazepam and Zolpidem. (55:122–23; 29:2).

Mr. Knutsen testified that Clonazepam is a central nervous system depressant commonly prescribed to treat anxiety. (55:126). Some of the side effects of Clonazepam

might be impaired judgment, impaired vision, impaired muscle coordination, increased confusion, and increased drowsiness. (55:126).

Mr. Knutsen explained that Zolpidem is also a central nervous system depressant which is often taken as a sedative. (55:127). It is prescribed to help treat insomnia, and it can cause dizziness, confusion, and a decrease in concentration. (55:127). Those who take Zolpidem are instructed to do so before they go to bed because it enters the blood and metabolizes quickly in order to produce the sedative effect. (55:137, 138).

Mr. Knutsen testified that taking both of the prescription drugs found in Mr. Mueller's system could have an "additive effect on impairment." (55:128). He said that an impairment caused by Zolpidem can be added onto the impairments caused by Clonazepam, making the overall impairment worse. (55:128). He opined that the drugs in Mr. Mueller's blood could have caused impairment. (55:129).

On cross examination, Mr. Knutsen acknowledged that both drugs found in Mr. Mueller's blood tested below their respective therapeutic ranges. (55:131). He also acknowledged that "every person is different with respect to the effect the drug will have." (55:131). Factors such as gender, age, and how long someone has been taking a medication affect how a body responds to the drug. (55:132). With respect to Clonazepam, Mr. Knutsen testified that tolerance was a "big factor," and that someone talking Clonazepam regularly and at the same dosage "can develop a tolerance where they no longer have the impairing side effect." (55:132, 135–36).

Based on the levels of each drug found in Mr. Mueller's blood sample, Mr. Knutsen acknowledged that he "couldn't render an opinion regarding [Mr. Mueller's] ability to safely drive." (55:135). He acknowledged that there was no legal limit for the amount of either drug that could be in one's system when driving. (55:134). He also testified that someone with only 16 nanograms per milliliter of both Clonazepam and Zolpidem in their system might not be impaired at all. (55:134, 135). With regard to Zolpidem specifically, Mr. Knutsen testified that he could not conclude that Mr. Mueller was "under the influence of Zolpidem" based on the low levels detected in his blood sample. (55:139).

Trial counsel for Mr. Mueller offered Exhibit 1, which contained Mr. Mueller's prescription records from Walgreens pharmacy and included an affidavit from the pharmacy's custodian of records. (55:149; 27). The records showed prescriptions for Clonazepam and Zolpidem, which were refilled regularly from January 1, 2016, through May of 2017. (55:149; 27). Exhibit 1 was received without objection. (55:149).

After the jury was excused to deliberate, they submitted a question to the circuit court which asked: "Did the medicine bottles have the warning label that states do not operate [a] motor vehicle?" (55:181, 32). The court responded that "it is not in evidence." (55:181, 32).

B. Legal Principles and Standard of Review

A conviction based upon insufficient evidence cannot constitutionally stand. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307 (1979). The United States and Wisconsin Constitutions protect the accused from a criminal conviction "except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to

constitute the crime with which he is charged." *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 365 (1970); *accord State v. Smith*, 117 Wis. 2d 399, 415, 344 N.W.2d 711 (Ct. App. 1983). The evidence must be "sufficiently strong and convincing to exclude every reasonable hypothesis consistent with the defendant's innocence in order to meet the demanding standard of proof beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 502, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990).

Furthermore, jury verdicts must be based on evidence, not "conjecture and speculation." *Herbst v. Wuennenberg*, 83 Wis. 2d 768, 774, 266 N.W.2d 391 (1978). Facts may be established by reasonable inferences in addition to direct evidence, but an inference is only reasonable if can be fairly drawn from the facts in evidence. *In re Paternity of A.M.C.*, 144 Wis. 2d 621, 636, 424 N.W.2d 707 (1988). A proper inference is one drawn from logic and proper deduction. *Id.* While "a jury may infer facts from other facts that are established by inference, each link in the chain of inferences must be sufficiently strong to avoid a lapse into speculation." *Piaskowski v. Bett*, 256 F.3d 687, 693 (7th Cir. 2001); *Yelk v. Seefeldt*, 35 Wis. 2d 271, 280–81, 151 N.W.2d 4 (1967).

A criminal defendant may challenge the sufficiency of the evidence on appeal regardless of whether or not he specifically raised the issue at trial. *State v. Hayes*, 2004 WI 80, ¶4, 273 Wis. 2d 1, 681 N.W.2d 203. An appellate court does not substitute its judgment for the factfinder, but instead asks whether the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the state, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.*, ¶56. If the reviewing court concludes that the evidence was insufficient, the conviction must be reversed and the matter must be remanded to the circuit court

for entry of a judgment of acquittal. *State v. Wulff*, 207 Wis. 2d 143, 144–45, 557 N.W.2d 813 (1997) (citing *Burks v. United States*, 437 U.S. 1, 18 (1978)).

C. The state presented insufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the low levels of prescription drugs in Mr. Mueller's system impaired him to an extent that he could not drive safely.

Taking a prescription drug before driving is not illegal in Wisconsin; what is illegal is: (1) "driving a motor vehicle on a highway," while (2) "under the influence [of a drug] to a degree which renders [one] incapable of safely driving." Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a); WIS-JI CRIM 2666. The jury was informed of each of these elements at trial. *See* (55:153).

The elements of driving under the influence of a drug are distinguishable from driving under the influence of alcohol, and that distinction is important. When alcohol is involved, the jury is to determine whether a person's "ability to operate a vehicle is impaired." WIS-JI CRIM 2663. However, for alleged impairment due to a prescription drug, the jury instructions committee explains:

The Statute [for operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of a drug] requires not only operating while "under the influence" but also that the defendant be under the influence "to a degree which renders him or her incapable of safely driving." The "incapable of safely driving requirement appears to be more restrictive than "the ability to operate is impaired" standard that is part of the uniform definition of "under the influence."

WIS-JI CRIM 2666, n.7; *see also* **State** *v. Hubbard*, 2008 WI 92, 52, 313 Wis. 2d 1, 752 N.W.2d 839 (affirming the jury instructions committee's reasoning).

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