### **RECEIVED**

07-25-2018

## STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

#### **DISTRICT III**

Case No. 2018AP44-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES R. MUELLER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MARATHON COUNTY, BRANCH 2, THE HON. GREGORY HUBER PRESIDING

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

THERESA WETZSTEON
District Attorney, Marathon County

MICHAEL D. ZELL Assistant District Attorney State Bar #1031931

Attorneys for Plaintiff- Respondent

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

### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT FOR THE JURY TO FIND THAT MUELLER WAS IMPAIRED BY A DRUG AND INCAPABLE OF SAFELY DRIVING.

It is not surprising that the defendant would raise a sufficiency of the evidence issue in this case. involving prescription drugs present significantly different issues than alcohol and restricted controlled substance cases. In alcohol cases there is strict liability if a driver shows the presence of alcohol over a certain limit, typically .08 ng/mL. Wis. Stat. §346.63(1)(b). restricted controlled substance cases there is strict liability for certain illegal drugs, such as THC, Methamphetamine, and Cocaine. Wis. Stat. §346.63(1)(am). Yet driving under the influence of a prescription drug is equally dangerous, as drivers can be distracted, confused, dizzy, and otherwise impaired and incapable of safely driving. Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). Prescription drugs are lawful if prescribed to the driver, of course, but can still cause impairment. The difficulty in prescription drug cases is

determining when a driver is impaired by a drug which he or she lawfully uses to a degree which renders the driver *incapable of safely driving*.

The Appellant's sufficiency argument boils down to a an effort to ignore the overlap between alcohol and the drugs involved in this case: they are central nervous system depressants. The Appellant's argument has three parts: First, field sobriety testing alone is allegedly insufficient to show impairment in a prescription drug case because it is designed for alcohol. The Appellant presents no evidence or authority for this proposition. Second, the impairment seen in Mueller's behaviors is inconsistent with potential side effects described by the analyst Michael Knutsen from the State Lab of Hygiene. It is true that some of Mueller's behaviors are inconsistent with side effects described by the analyst, but some are consistent.

These issues were raised by the Mueller during the jury trial in the circuit court. These issues are questions for the jury, and the Court of Appeals should not cross that important line.

# A. This Court reviews challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence with great deference to the fact-finder's determinations.

In *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990), the Wisconsin Supreme Court explained the standard of review for a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence to convict:

[I]n reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, an appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. If any possibility exists that the trier of fact could have drawn the appropriate

inferences from the evidence adduced at trial to find the requisite guilt, an appellate court may not overturn a verdict even if it believes that the trier of fact should not have found guilt based on the evidence before it.

### (Citations omitted.)

The trier of fact is the sole arbiter of the credibility of witnesses and alone is charged with the duty of weighing the evidence. *See State v. Below*, 2011 WI App 64, ¶4, 333 Wis. 2d 690, 799 N.W.2d 95 (citing *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 506). In other words, it is exclusively within the trier of fact's province to decide which evidence is worthy of belief, which is not, and to resolve any conflicts in the evidence. *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 506. Moreover, when more than one inference can reasonably be drawn from the evidence, the reviewing court must follow the inference that supports the trier of fact's verdict. *Id.* at 506-07.

Accordingly, "[t]his court will only substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact when the fact finder relied upon evidence that was inherently or patently incredible—that kind of evidence [that] conflicts with the laws of nature or with fully-established or conceded facts." *State v. Tarantino*, 157 Wis. 2d 199, 218, 458 N.W.2d 582 (Ct. App. 1990). Further,

It is vitally important to maintain this standard of review. An appellate court should not sit as a jury making findings of fact and applying the hypothesis of innocence rule de novo to the evidence presented at trial.

State v. Watkins, 2002 WI 101, ¶77, 255 Wis. 2d 265, 647 N.W.2d 244 (citing *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 505-06).

Though Poelliner is the seminal case regarding sufficiency of the evidence claims, the Wisconsin Supreme Court recently discussed the scope of the sufficiency of evidence issue. In *State v. Sholar*, 2018 WI 53, ¶ 45, 381 Wis.2d 560, the Court pointed out that "to succeed on a sufficiency claim, a defendant must show a record devoid of evidence on which a reasonable jury

could convict." The Court also pointed out that the amount of evidence required to survive a sufficiency claim is a "bare modicum." *Id.* 

## B. Wilkens does not eliminate field sobriety tests as evidence in drug cases.

The Appellant relies heavily on *City of West Bend v. Wilkens* for the proposition that field sobriety tests are not scientific tests, but merely observational tools. As such, the Appellant's argument seems to conclude, they are not relevant evidence of impairment. *Appellant's brief*, 15 (*citing City of West Bend v. Wilkens*, 2005 WI App 36, ¶17, 278 Wis.2d 643, 693 N.W.2d 324). Referring to the holding in *Wilkens*, the Appellant concludes: "As mere 'observational tools' akin to other signs of impairment, those observations are of less evidentiary value without additional observed drug-specific clues to support a conclusion of impairment." This conclusion stretches the meaning of *Wilkens* beyond recognition.

In *Wilkens*, the officer administered the standard field sobriety tests at the time: the alphabet test, the finger-to-nose test, and the heel-to-toe test, *Wilkens*, 2005 WI App 36, at ¶3. Wilkens objected to the admission of the tests at trial under the pre-Daubert admissibility rules for expert testimony, specifically the reliability standard. According to Wilkens, the field sobriety tests should be suppressed at trial because they were not sufficiently reliable under the test for expert testimony. *Wilkens*, at ¶6.

The *Wilkens* Court decided that field sobriety tests are not scientific, and thus not subject to the rules regarding scientific and expert testimony. *Wilkens*, ¶ 17. As such, the proper analysis for admitting field sobriety test evidence, according to the *Wilkens* court, is the general relevance standard. *Wilkens*, ¶ 24, ¶ 14. As such, the field sobriety tests were admissible against Wilkens to show impairment.

The Appellant somehow concludes that the *Wilkens* decision means that the standardized field sobriety tests "were of limited value." Appellant's brief, 15. In one sense this is true, as Wilkens decided that this is not a scientific result, but only relevant observations. Yet, a trained officer's observations are certainly relevant to determining whether there are clues of impairment present. It is admissible evidence on which the jury can base a decision.

The Appellant also takes liberty with the *Wilkens* decision by arguing that *Wilkens* determined field sobriety tests are used only to predict blood alcohol results. According to the Appellant, these field sobriety tests were designed by NHTSA to detect impairment by alcohol. Appellant's brief, 17. Reviewing the entire passage from *Wilkens* which the Appellant relies on is useful:

Other than the bare assertion that the recommended standardized tests are both scientifically reliable and valid, the record contains no indication that they are based on science. Any scientific explanation for why the standardized procedures yield any particular result is completely absent. Standardization may lead to reliability in the sense that where examiners look for the same "clues" to shape their observations of the subject, their observations are likely to be more similar. Similarity does not equate to more correct observations, however. "The mere fact that the NHTSA studies attempted to quantify the reliability of the field sobriety tests in predicting unlawful [blood alcohol contents] does not convert all of the observations of a person's performance into scientific evidence." State v. Meador, 674 So. 2d 826, 831-32 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1996). The evidence before us simply does not allow us to conclude that following the NHTSA protocol yields scientifically correct results. For this reason, we will not treat Onken's observations with respect to Wilkens' performance of the FSTs any differently from his other subjective observations of Wilkens, i.e., his red and glassy eyes, slurred speech, his speeding, and the smell of alcohol on his person.

Wilkens,  $\P$  19.

The Wilkens court was not attempting to resolve whether the standard field sobriety tests are appropriate for recognizing impairment by drugs or only alcohol. Wilkens limited its analysis to the question of whether these tests are scientific or mere observational tools. This paragraph of the decision discusses the NHTSA studies which attempt to predict the reliability of the field sobriety tests in predicting impairment by alcohol. The paragraph does not discuss whether NHTSA did such studies as it relates to impairment by drugs. Ultimately, the Wilkens court determined that the tests are observational tools, and that standardization of the tests assists officers by allowing them to rely on a standard set of clues. But this does not mean that impairment by drugs will not also be shown by these tests. This is especially true when, as in this case, the drugs are central nervous system depressants just like alcohol.

The Appellant further suggests that there need to have been "drug-specific" clues present in order to obtain a conviction. Appellant's brief, 15. There is no authority cited for this proposition. In fact, Officer Austin testified that the tests he used are meant to detect impairment generally. Also, analyst Michael Knutsen testified that he reviewed the police report, and concluded that the drugs found in Muller's blood could cause the type of impairment found during field sobriety tests. (55:129).

The Appellant did not raise this issue about the distinction between drugs and alcohol on field sobriety testing until it reached this Court. The Appellant should have raised the issue in the circuit court if it wished to have the issue decided. There is an inadequate record for this Court to decide that field sobriety testing should be different for drugs, as there is no expert testimony on this issue which would support the Appellant's argument.

# C. Observed clues of Mueller's impairment were consistent with potential side effects of the drugs.

By ignoring some of the potential side effects of Clonazepam and Zolpiem from consideration, the Appellant concludes that Austin's observations of Mueller's impairment was not consistent with the potential side-effects of Clonazepam and Zolpidem.

Michael Knutsen, testified that Clonazepam is a central nervous system depressant, similar to alcohol. (55:126). Clonazepam can cause impaired vision, difficulty scanning and tracking the road, impaired muscle coordination and confusion. (55:126). Knutsen testified that Zolpidem is a sedative used for sleeping, and also a central nervous system depressant. (55:127). This drug causes sedation, and can cause dizziness, confusion and decreased concentration. (55:127). Combining the two drugs can increase the impairing effect of the drugs. (55:128). Knutsen testified that he reviewed the police report, and concluded that the drugs found in Muller's blood could cause the type of impairment found during field sobriety tests. (55:129).

The Appellant points out that he did not exhibit *some* of the bahaviors that would be consistent with impairment from these drugs:

...Mr. Mueller did not appear groggy, sleepy, or lethargic. (55:91, 92). He also testified that Mr. Mueller appeared to understand instructions given to him on field sobriety tests, that he was responsive to questions, and obeyed the officers' commands. (55:79, 92, 100). Mr. Mueller asked Officer Austin appropriate and relevant questions throughout their encounter, and his speech was not slurred or abnormal. See (55:111). There was no indication that his vision was impaired during the HGN test or at any other time. See (55:75). There was no testimony that Mr. Mueller had trouble exiting his vehicle so as to suggest impaired coordination. See (55:72). Nor was there any other evidence that he was

dizzy, confused, or otherwise not oriented to time, person, and place. Appellant's brief, 19-20.

Yet Mueller did exhibit clues consistent with impairment. Mueller was stopped in the middle of the roadway, a green light, and with cars going around him. Mueller seemed oblivious to his surroundings. He then reacted inappropriately when the officer encountered him, by attempting to drive away during a discussion with the officer. Mueller showed sings of impairment during the field sobriety tests which would be consistent with impaired muscle coordination or dizziness, side effects reported as possible by Knutsen.

# D. The trier of fact had sufficient evidence to reasonably find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

The issues raised by the Appellant in support of this argument were unsuccessfully raised before the jury. The questions about whether the field sobriety tests were appropriate to the circumstances, whether the observed clues were indicative of impairment, and questions about other innocent explanations for Mueller's behavior were raised and argued at trial. The jury considered legitimate arguments raised by the defense, questioning whether there was actually impairement such that Mueller was unsafe to drive. The jury heard the arguments, and convicted Mueller of the offense. But under the standard for sufficiency of the evidence, this Court cannot find that the evidence present is so lacking in probative value that the jury could not have acted reasonably. There was more than a "bare modicum" of evidence of impairment sufficient to convict Mueller of the offense.

# II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR BY DENYING MUELLER'S FOURTH AMENDMENT MOTIONS

Mueller concedes that Officer Austin's initial contact with him was justified by the traffic circumstances of his vehicle being stopped in the middle of the roadway. Appellant's brief, 22-23. His argument is that the continuation of that lawful encounter into an investigation of an OWI violation was unlawful. This argument has two parts. First, the Appellant argues that an officer must have reasonable suspicion of a *specific crime* in order to extend a traffic stop. Second, according to the Appellant, the facts available to the officer at the time of the arrest were insufficient to create probable cause.

## A. Standard of review and relevant law.

When reviewing the denial of a motion to suppress evidence, the court will uphold the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Patton*, 2006 WI App 235, ¶7, 297 Wis. 2d 415, 724 N.W.2d 347. This Court reviews *de novo* whether the facts lead to reasonable suspicion. *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶17, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729.

An investigatory or *Terry* stop typically involves temporary questioning of an individual and is a "seizure" within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. *See Terry* v. *Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968); *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶20. Such a stop is constitutional if the officer has reasonable suspicion to believe that a crime has been, is being, or is about to be committed. *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶20. Accordingly, an investigatory stop permits police to briefly detain a person in order to ascertain the presence of possible criminal behavior, even though there is no probable cause to support an arrest. *Id*.

To determine whether a seizure is reasonable, courts first determine whether the initial interference with the detained person's liberty was justified by reasonable

suspicion, and then determine whether any subsequent police conduct was reasonably related in scope to the circumstances that justified the original interference. *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 19-20; *State v. Arias*, 2008 WI 84, ¶30, 311 Wis. 2d 358, 752 N.W.2d 748.

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